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Pensacola Naval Air Station Historlc District includes 55 deslig-
nated historic structures and approximately 82 acres. Because the air
station took over the abandoned Pensacola Navy Yard in 1914, the dis-
triet boundaries conform closely to the original walied portion of the
yard. With only a few exceptions, district structures reflect three
distinct periods of construction: (1) 1865 to 1899, when the yard was
rebuilt after its destruction by Confederate-set fires during the Civil
War; (2) 1906 €6 1908, when,following a devastating hurricane in 1906,
the Navy again partially rebuilt the yard; and (3) 1916 to 1919, when
the first air station structures, including hangars, were erected.

The naval air station is responsible for all designated structures ex-
cept eight (numbers 26, 38, 44, 71, 72, 104, 107, and 121). These are
maintained by the Naval Alr Rework Facility (NARF). Two of these,
structures 71 and 72, are scheduled for reassignment to the station com-
mand in the near future. Most of the designated structures are in at
least falr condition, but like most older buildings on any military
reservation, they have undergone some degree of alteration over the
years. Seme have experienced extensive interior changes, all have re-
celved modern heating and lighting.

Clearly the most significant buildings from the standpoint of
aviation history are the metal seaplane hangars erected between 1916
and 1918. Six of these are extant (numbers T1, 72, 73, T4, T5%-and
76), but. all are threatened by long-range NaVy'plans,tolcreatevaugreen _
belt along the southern waterfront. In. addition, at- least three of
the hangars have suffered a significant degree of chemical erosion,
largely as a result of long exposure to compounds used within them by
NARF. -“Because the six structures are extremely important in the his-
tory of naval aviation and because as a group they and their correspond-
ing amphibious aircrafif launching ramps preserve much of the early 20th-
century flavor of the station, all six hangars are included in the
district as designated historic structures. However, because the degree
of chemically caused deterioration is considerable and because saving
all six hangars may not prove economically feaslble, 1t 1is suggested
that if possible the Park Service have a professional engineer study
them and make appropriate recommendations. Other metal waterfront
buildings might be structurally evaluated at the same time.

Brief descriptions of the designated structures follow. The quar-
ters front onto North Avenue at the north énd of :the district; the
hangars and ramps are to the south along the waterfront; and most other
buildings stand near the district center. Original names are glven when

known.

5




Form No. 10-300a
{Rev. 10-74)

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

Pensacola Naval
CONTINUATION SHEET Alr Station ITEM NUMBER T PAGE one

A. Structures Erected Prior to 1900

Commanding Officer's Quarters (building #Q-1). Erected in 1874 in the
Ttalianate mode, this is a symmetrical, three-story, tan brick edifice
with a hipped roof that rises to a belvedere. The white-trimmed main
block measures about 40 feet by 45 feet and is encircled by a two-
tiered, screened veranda. There are several rear additions. The in-
terior features a central hall plan.

Officer's Quarters (buildings #Q-2, Q-3, Q~4, Q-5, and Q-6). These
nearly identical two-story, rectangular-shaped white«painted, frame
dwellings were built between 1874 and 1876. They exhibit various rear
or side additions, but with their two-story, screened porches, they
still represent, according to HABS, a fine example of regionally adapted

archlitecture.

Armory and Chapel (building #16). Constructed in 1854, this octagonal,
two-story, salmon-colored brick building served originally as the Navy
yard's armory and chapel, and it was one of the few yard structures
that survived the Civil War. It measures 48 feet in diameter and 20
feet along each facade. A double—tiered, white-painted enclosed porch

.npw encircles the edifice. . -

Bachelor Officers' Quarters (bullding #3&) Surrounded by a two-tiered
veranda supported by iron columns, this white-trimmed, two-story, tan
brick quarters was erected in 1873. According to HABS it is identical
to the former Marine Hospital in Galena, I1l. Ammi B, Young designed
that structure.

8tables (builldings #19 and 28)., Built in 1874, these two rectangular-
shaped, parapet-gable-roofed, one-story, tan brick structures stand
rear of the commanding officer's quarters.

Ship Carpenters' Workshop (bullding #1). Although it has undergone
extensive interior alteration, this long, rectan%ular, two-story, white-
painted, brick edifice, which was completed in 1868, remains a fine
example of Greek Revival design in a military-industrial structure.

Its lengthy facades feature rhythmically spaced Doric pillasters, masonry
openings, and recessed panels.

Storehouse (building #25). Erected in 1848, destroyed in 1862, and
rebuilt in 1868, this two-story, brick edifice is cream-painted and
hip-roofed. It was converted to a seaman's barracks in 1907, to a
Marine barracks in 1921, and finally to office and storage space in 1957.

G5y
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Plant Maintenance Shops (buildings #18 and 38). These virtually identi-
cal rectangular, two«story, hip-roofed, brick industrial buildings

were erected in 1881-82. Each is more than 200 feet long and has re-
celved additions. Segmentally arched window openings are set in pairs

on both stories. Building 38 sits on the site of a 1829 blacksmith

shop and 1is threatened with demolition in the planned waterfront redevel-
opment.

Ordnance Workshop/General Warehouse (building #40). Believed to be a
modification of a Thomas A. Walter design; this rectangular, 2 1/2-
story, tan brick edifice was built in 1875. It features segmentally
arched window openings and pedimented gable ends highlighted by palladian
windows. Much original detailing remains, including joinery and inter-
ior cast-iron columns.

Foundry (building #26). Although flanked by adjoining . structures,
this 2 1/2-story-high, tan brick building remains, even with bricked-in
windows, an important part of the waterfront's industrial character.
Erected in 1882, it has a slate-covered, gable roof.

Waterfront Service Building (building #27). Completed in 1872, this

. long, rectangular,. l 1/2-story, white-painted,. brick.edifice with north-
south gable roof stands on the waterfront and visually separates the
1916 hangars from their 1918 counterparts.

Brick Boundary Wall and Gatehouses (struadtures #85, 377, and 378).

These are the remaining portions of the approximately 10-foot-high brick
wall erected around the Navy yard in 1837. Wall sections extend north-

south along Jaynes Avenue and east-west along Saufley Street. The brick
gatehouses stand at the Navy yard's former main entrance on South

Avenue at the west end of the district.

Bulkhead and Wet Basin (structures #178 and 177). Completed in 1852-53,
these granite-block structures originaily formed part of the yard's

ship construction and repair facility, and the bulkhead forms a perma-
nent wharf, at which the carrier Lexington docks when not condtieting
training exercises at sea. James Herron designed the basin; the firm
of John S. Gilbert and Zeno Secor designed the bulkhead.

B. Structures Erected Between 1900 and 1911

Officers' Quarters (buildings #Q-7 and Q-8). The air station building
Tog 1ists these as 1875 structures, but HABS suggests that quarters 8
is a 1905 building erected on the site of a quarters destroyed in 1862.
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The latter presumably 1s correct, and therefore similar (except for
rear additions) quarters 7 may be a 1905 structure also. Both have
rectangular, one-story, white-painted, frame main blocks.

Brig (building #8). This structure, completed in 1908, is scheduled

for removal. Roughly 92 feet by 32 feet, the one-story, hip-roofed,

cream-painted, brick bullding has a corbeled cornice around high cell
windows.

Industrial Bulldings (buildings #44 and 46). According to the air
station bnilding log, rectangular, 1 1/2-story, gable-roofed, corrugated
metal structure 44 was erected in 1906. More than 200 feet long, it
extends from South Avenue toward the waterfront. Similarly constructed
bullding #46 rests east-west along the north side of South Avenue.

Headquarters (building #45). Erected in 1907, this 15- by 3-bay, 3-
story, red brick edifice houses Pensacola Naval Air Station headquarters.
According to station engineers it was converted from industrial use.
Among 1ts many striking features are an exposed granite-block foundation;
massive stone belt course between first- and second-floor levels; large,
triple, first-story windows set under sémlcircular fanlights and molded
brick arches with stone keystones and brackets; and paired. rectangular
window openings under flat arches on the. top two stories. The building
has a truncated hip roof and is situated near the waterfront across

South Avenue from the wet basin.

Power Plant (building #47A). This massive, almost square, two-story-
high, flat-roofed, red brick structure was erected in 1907 as a power
plant. Now serving as a repalr shop, it is on the station's 1list of
expendable buildings. Beautifully ornamented, it measures five bays by
seven, has pllastered and arcaded sides, and displays in each bay a
triple, twelve-over-twelve sash under a semicircular fanlight and stone-
decorated, molded-brick arch. Patterned stone or plaster medallions

and two highly ornate cornices decorate the upper walls.

Industrial Buildings (buildings #49 and 51). Constructed in 1907-8,
these contrasting structures are situated near each other on the south
side of South Avenue. Buillding 49 is a one-story, gable-roofed, metal-
sheathed, shop and warehouse; number 51 is a rectangular, parapet-shed—
roofed, cream-painted, brick shop.

Administrative Building (building #52). This rectangular, two-story,

gray-stucco-covered, brick office structure was completed in 1907. It
is situated Just north of the permanent wharf.

eT
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C. Structures Erected Between 1916 and 1919

Seaplane Hangars (buildings #71, 72, 73, 74, 75, and 76). The most
historically signiflcant extant structures at the air station, these
surviving metal hangars were among the first erected here, and they
form a waterfront row that once included at least 10 such edifices.
Numbers 71, 72, and 73 were erected in 1916 and doubled in size in 1917.
The other three were bullt in 1918 and are approximately one-third
larger than the earlier ones. All the hangars are similar in desizn

with the most obvious differences appearing in the roofs. Each 1916
hangar has two low-gable-roofed sections?i hangars 75 and 76 have three;
and hangar 74 has only one. Each hangar is steel framed, metal clad,
and cream-painted. All have undergone some alteration, but their basic
exterlior and interior structure is little changed except for the chemi-
cally produced deterioration described egﬁﬂ,,.

Amphibious Aircraft Launch Ramps (structures #167 168, 169, and 170).
Built in 1917-18, these concrete ramps complemented the metal hangars
in the Navy's early seaplane operations.

Small @raft Berthing and Repair Facility (building #295). This metal
shed, which constitutes the first known addition to the wet basin, was
constructed in 1919 at the height of the station's seaplane activity.
Measuring about 214 feet long, 54 feet wide, and 50 feet high, it holds
a 20-ton movable Chesapeake crane. Siding and structural steel were
replaced in 1965.

Band Building (buildihg #191). Currently used as a music facility, this
small, rectangular, two-story, white-painted, brick structure stands at
the far west end of the ‘district. Erected in 1918, the bullding has a
gabled roof, which is parapeted on the south end and stepped on the
north. A hip-roofed veranda extends along the lower west facade, and

a two-tiered, shed-roofed veranda crosses the front of the south facade.
Window and door openings are segmentally arched.

Waterfront Industrial Buildings (buildings #104 and 144). These struc-
tures are a study in contrast, but both form an important part of the
waterfront vista. Standing near hangar 71, building 104 1s a three-
story~high, metal-and-glass, steel-framed shop erected in 1918. It
complements the hangars but like them appears to have suffered signifi-
cant deterioration. Building 144 is a rectangular, oneistory, gable-
roofed, gray-painted, metal, beat shop with 1rregular fenestration and
two small, sh@dureefed aaditiena.
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Other Industrial and Support Builldings (buildings #105, 107, 121, 230,
and 236). These edifices were erected between South and North Avenues
in 1917-18. Number 105 is a low-hip-roofed, frame shop covered with
yellow asbestos siding; number 107 is a small, gable-roofed, red brick
shop; number 121 is a similar two-story shop; number 230, the current
safety office, is a small, one-story, gable-roofed, frame structure;

and number 238 1is a cross-shaped, one-story, administrative and storage
facility covered with white &sbestos siding.

Post Office (building #223). Part of the South Avenue street scape,
thls small, rectangular, brick structure is nine bays long, three bays
- wide, and covered with yellow stucco. It was built in 191§.

Officers' Quadruplex (buildings #Q-9 and Q-10). These two-story, gable-
roofed quarters were constructed in 1918. Rather plain in design, they
are sheathed in white asbestos siding,

Guesthouse (building #221). Completed in 1918, this 16-unit, 2-story
quarters consists of two rectangular, hipped-gable-roofed, frame wings
connected by a cross-gabled breezeway. Exterior walls d¥splay white
asbestos siding. ,

Boundary Justification. Included within the historic district are 55
designated historic structures and approximately 82 acres. The o
boundary follows relatively closely the southern and eastern shore
boundaries to which the installation has conforméd since its inception.
On the north and part of the west sides, the boundary follows closely
the original Navy yard wall. Thus the district includes both the

extant Navy yard structures and the extant pre-1920 air station edifices.

Boundary Description. As indicated in red on the accompanying maps

(1) U.s.G.S., 7.5' Series, Florida, Fort Barrancas Quad., (2) Master
Shore Station Development Map, Part II, Section 2, Naval Air Station,
Pensacola, Fla.], a line beginning at the southeast corner of the in-~
tersection of West Avenue and Saufley Street and running eastward ap-
proximately 780 feet along an east-west plane one foot north of the old
post wall to the west curb of East Avenue; thence, southward about 340
feet along the west curb of East Avenue to the south curb of the entrance
to Pler 302; thence, east about 75 feet along the south curb of the

Pier 302 entrance to an unmarked point; thence, south abBout 400 feet
along a north-south plane 75 feet east of the east curb of East Avenue
to an unmarked point about 20 feet east of the southeast corner of the
main block of building 52; thence, southwestward about 100 feet along

a dilagonal line to the east curb of East Avenue; thence, southward about

(A
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ks feet along the east curb of East Avenue to the north curb of South
Avenue; thence, east about 280 feet along the plane of the north curb

of South Avenue to the edge of bulkhead 178; thence, southwestward about
L4o feet along the southeastern edge of bulkhead 178 to its terminus;
thence west about 80 feet across the entrance to the wet basin (bulkhead
177); thence westward about 1,040 feet along the shoreline, including
the masonry and concrete seaplane ramps, to a point approximately 600
feet west of ramp 170; thence, northward about 210 feet to the south
curb of Dallas Street; thence, east along the south curb of Dallas to

a point 1 foot west of the south gate of the old post wall (near the
east curb of Jaynes Avenue); thence, north approximately 480 feet along
a north-south plane about 1 foot west of the remaining portion of the
old post wall to the south curb of North Avenue; thence east about 70
feet along the south curb of North to the east curb of West Avenue;
thence north about 230 feet along the east curb of West to the point

of beginning.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Pensacola Naval Air Station enjJoys the distinction of being the
United States' first permanent naval alr station, first Navy pilot
training center, and first naval installation to send pilots into com-
bat. During the station's initilal 3 years, it provided a setting for
the achievement of several Amerlican altitide records and for the first
sucéessful ‘Batapult launching of an aircraft from a ship. Pioneer
aviatiors who flew here during this period included Godfrey deC. Cheval-
ier, Kenneth Whiting, Theodore G. Ellyson, John H. Towers, Henry C.
Mustin, and R.C. Saufley.

Although the Army supported experiments with heavier-than-air craft
as early as 1898, the Navy remained skeptical about airplanes as a
potential military weapon until 1910. Proof that planes could take
off from the deck of a ship eroded this skepticlsm, and:in 1911 the
Navy secured an appropriation from Congress for a naval air service.
After 2 years of experimentation and aircraft development, Secretary
of the Navy Josephus Daniels ordered creation of a permanent naval air
station: gt Pensacola, where the climate favored year-round flyin%
Established as Pensacola Naval Aercnautic Station in January 191 the
installation began modestly on the site of abandoned Pensacola Navy
Yard. When all men and machines arrived, the entire command numbered
6 qualified pilots, 23 enlisted men, 7 seaplanes, some spare parts,
and a few canvas hangars.

With the onset of World War I, naval aviation expanded rapidly.
The Navy established additional training bases, but Pensacola, now
designated Pensacola Naval Alr Station, remained a major flight center.
The Navy's first aerographical officer reported for duty here, the
Navy's first aircraft carrier conducted experiments here designed to
help determine the service's policy on carriers, and the Navy's aerial
photography school (now one of the world's largest) relewated here=--
all before 1926.

Naval aviation slumped in the early 1930's, but Pensacola Naval
Air Station underwent a huge bullding program between 1935 and 1939
and expanded its tralning facilities to include aviation mechanies and
aviation medicine. During World War II, the station turned out thou-
sands of new Navy and Marine pillots, who together destroyed more than
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15;000 Japanese aircraft while losing only 451 of their own. Continuing
its training mission, Pensacola Naval Air Station is today headquarters
for the CHief of Naval Education and Training, a command ereated in 1971
to oversee all such Navy programs.

The station's historic district includes approximately 82 acres
and some 55 designated historic structures. Among these are the com-
mander's and other quarters from the 1870's, several metal hangars and
concrete ramps from 1916-18, and support buildings from both the late
19th and the early 20th centuries. Most of these structures are in-
fair or good condition and still in use, although some hangars have
suffered corrosive damage from chemicals used within them by the Naval

Alr Rework Facility.

History

The history of Pensacola Naval Air Station is in part the history
of Pensacola Navy Yard. Andrew Jackson, first Governori of Florida
after its transfer from Spain to the United States in 1821, is credited
with initiating events that led to constriéiction of the shipbuilding
facility. His official reports from Pensacola emphasized its strategilc
location on the Gulf of Mexico. The Nation had hundreds.of miles of . .
new coastline to protect; British and French agents remained in the
Caribbean casting covetous ®yes towardith 161 outh; and Florida
stood virtually isolated from the rest of the Unlted States due to
poor, almost nonexistent roads. Therefore 1in March 1824 Congress ap-
proved the establishment of a naval base at Pensacola, and the fbilowing
year Secretary of the Navy Samuel Southard appointed an examination
board to select a specific site for the installation. They chose a
spot south of and near the mouth of Pensacola Bay.

Over the next 17 years Congress appropriated more than $1/2 million
for construction and operation of the yard, but because the Navy had
no- master plan for the facility, work prodeeded slowly. As late as 1842,
the yard still lacked the capability for shipbuilding, and even major
ship repair proved difficult. Conditions changed little until the Mexi-
can War, when the Navy successfully upgraded the yard so that it could
supply and repair ships of the U.S. invasion fleet. Meanwhile, between
1829 and 1844 the U.S. Department of Engineers labored to provide land
and sea defenses for Pensacola. In a span of 15 years they erected Fort
Pickens on Santa Rosa Island, Fort McRee on Perdide Key, and Fort Redoubt
west of the yard. An old Spanish installation, Fort San Carlos de
Barrancas, also west of the yard, was strengthened with the addition of
a U-shaped brick and earthwork.

[#Ye]
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At the close of the Mexican War, the Government withdrew its troops
from Forts Pickens and McRee, leaving them unoccuplied. The Navy Yard,
on the other hand, enjoyed a decade of growth. Between 1855 and 1859,
yard artisans fabricated two frigates, the Seminole and the Pensacola,
and by the latter year more than 60 structures dotted yard work and

living areas.

The Civil War interrupted thls progress. Soon after Florida seceded
from the Union early in 1861, Confederate troops from that State and
Alabama assembled at the Navy yard and persuaded its commander to sur-
render it. The southerners occupled Forts Barrancas and McRee too, but
Union forces retained Fort Pickens. The following September they used
it as a base from which to launch a surprise night attack on the rebel-
held Navy yard. For the next few months Union and Confederate artillery
exchanged fire across Pensacola Bay; and then, in February 1862 the
southerners began removing all useful machinery from the yard. On May
9 they withdrew from the facility and burned it.

Federal forces reoccuplied the yard almost immediately and began to
clear away the rubble and erect new structures. After the war Congress,
in 1867, appropriated considerable money to complete the task, and
during that year and the next, houses, shops, and dock basin gates were
rebullt. Little else was accomplished until the Spanish-American War,
though, for congressional appropriations dwindled during peacetime.

As before, war sparked a revival of activity at the Navy Yard, and
subsequent construction of the Panama Canal kept interest in the histor-
ic facility high. The Navy bought a 10,000-ton floating dry dock in
Havana and towed it to Pensacola, and workmen built a new wharf, a mod-
ern power plant, and several wireless stations. Then in 1906 the worst
hurricane in memory lashed the area and destroyed or damaged nearly
every major yard structure. For some 4 years afterward, naval officlals
in Washington debated the future of the battered installation. By 1910
shipyards in Baltimore, Boston, Brooklyn, Norfolk, and Philadelphia
were fulfilling the Navy's needs, and so in 1911 the Government closed
Pensacola Navy Yard.

By coincidence, in that same year Congress appropriated the initial
funds for a naval air service. The Navy Department had shown interest
in heavier-than-air craft as early as 1898, when Assistant Secretary
of the Navy Theodore Roosevelt recommended that the Navy and Army cooper-
ate In investigating Samuel P. Langley's experiments with models.
Afterward, however, the Army provided money for the continuation of
these tests, while the Navy decided not to participate in them. Despite

Gl
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the protests of numerous officers, the Navy reacted in much the same
way after the Wright brothers' trial flights for the military at Fort
Myer, Va., in 1908, The War Department bought its first planes the
following year, but the Navy Department remained skeptical about the
potential use of aircraft as weapons and refused to follow the Army's
lead once again. Then in 1910 Capt. Washington I. Chambers, assistant
to the Secretary of the Navy's Aid for Material, engineered a success-
ful ship-to-shore flight by a private plane from aboard the U.S.S. Bir-
mingham. After other experiments--many of whieh were conducted at
pioneer aviator Glenn Curtiss! new flying school in San Diego~~showed
that carrier landings, flights of several hours' duration, aerial photo
graphy, and wireless communication were possible, Secretary of the Navy
George von L. Meyer asked Congress for $25,000 for the service's first
planes. Upon obtaining that sum, the Navy had three aircraft construc-
ted, and then engaged in 2 years of rather intense testing and experi-
mentation.

By the summer of 1913, the Navy had eight planes, about a dozen
licensed pilots, and a multitude of conflicting opinions about proper
aviation policy. At this juncture, new Secretary of the Navy Josephus
Danlels appointed a special board to consider all views and "prepare a

.comprehensive plan for the organization. of.a Naval Aeronautic Service."
Headed by Chambers, the board deliberated 12 days then recommended 50
aircraft and as many spares for the Navy's fleet, 6 planes for an ad-
vanced base ashore, ongoing aviation research at the Washington Navy
Yard's model basin, and establishment of a flying school, repair shops,
and general training program at Pensacola, where the climate favored
year-round flying. The Department adopted most of the board's recommen
dations, and Capt. Mark L. Bristol became the first head of naval aero-
nautics.

In December 1913 Daniels ordered all the Navy's aviation personnel
and equipment to Pensacola, where they were to establish the Navy's
first permanent alr station at the Navy yard. When all assigned men
and machines arrived at the abandoned installation in January 1914,
their entire command numbered only 6 qualified pilots, Zé—énlisted men,
7 seaplanes, some spare parts, and a few canvas hangars. Many fine
quarters and sturdy industrial buildings remained at the yard, but the

1 .
_ Quoted in Archibald D. Turnbull and Clifford‘'L. Lord, History of
United States Naval Aviation (New Haven, 1949), 33.
5 -
Sources differ on the number of planes. Numbers given range

from 7 to 11.
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beach, which would be the center of flight operations, lay cluttered

with scrapped cement blocks and decaying docks. Nevertheless, by early
February, the command had cleared the beaches, put up their tent hangars,
unloaded their Curtiss flying boats and Wright hydroplanes, and official-
ly opened the Pensacola Aeronautic Station.

For the next few years, while Navy officials in Washington labored
for larger congressional appropglations and more planes, the men at
Pensacola trained hard and achieved a number of naval "firsts."
Unhappily one of these was a disaster rather than an accomplishment;
only 2 weeks after the station opened, one of the pilots died in the
Navy's first fatal crash. Scareely 8 weeks later Pensacola becamé& the
first American military installation to send pilots and planes into
combat. During the Tampico crisis in April 1914, Lt. John H. Towers,

3 other pilots, and 12 enlisted men, took 3 aircraft aboard the U.S.S.
Mississippi and accompanied U.S. troops to Vera Cruz. There Lt. Pat
Belllinger made, according to Navy historian Harold Blaine Miller, "long
and extensive scouting flights over the enemy lines and fhe information
he obtained proved of great assistance in the campaign.” His plane
was also the first to be hit by enemy fire.

Although not as glamorous, perhaps, as Bellinger's expleits. in .. .. .. .
Mexico, the "firsts" achieved at the air station itself proved more sig-
nificant. For example, on April 23, 1914, Bellinger set an American
seaplane altitude record by ascending to 10,000 feet over Pensacola.

In July 1915 the station began training exercises in antisubmarine
patrol and bombing, and these demonstrated among other things the need
for greater fuel capacity and better bomb sights. That same year, in
November, Cmdr. Henry C. Mustin made the first successful catapult
launching from a ship, flying off the stern of the U.S.S. North Carolina
in Pensacola Bay; and, in March the following year, Lt. R.C. Sauflsy set
a new American altitude record of 16,000 feet. In part because of these
accomplishments and in part because of the need to improve the overall
administration of naval aviation, the Navy Department, in mid-1916,
reorganized the Naval Aeronautic Station, giving it official manufac-
turing and experimental departments. The station's responsibilities now
included: (1) training personnel, both commissioned and enlisted,

(2) maintaining and repairing school aircraft, (3) testing new planes,
instruments, guns, bombs, and other devices, (4) experimenting wlth new
aircraft body, enging, and instrument design, (5) constructing new kinds
of aircraft, and (6) collecting performance data, apparently for both
experimental and training flights.

3
Harold Blaine Miller, Navy Wings (New York, 1942).
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When the United States entered World War I, Pensacola was the
only tralning station in operation. Since it could accommodate only
64 student pilots at any one time, the Navy Department established
several other training facilities. Pensacola remained preeminent,
however. By 1918 it had gained a new mame-~Pensacola Naval Air
Station--and erected 10 new, metal hangars along its waterfront. After
the war naval aviation on the whole declined, but at Pensacola . train-
ing and testing proceeded apace. In 1923-24 the Navy's first aircraft
carrier, the U.S.S.Langley, came here twice to conduct experiments to
help determine the proper Navy policy for such vessels, and about this
same time the Navy moved its school of aerial photography here. It is
now one of the world's largest.

Naval aviation slumped during the early 1930's, but between 1935
and 1939, Pensacola Naval Air Station underwent a tremendous building
program and expanded its training program to include aviation mechanics
and aviation medicine. These changes proved invaluable after the
Japanese attacked Pearl Harbor on December 7, 1941, Within 9 days
Pensacola was able to adjust its training schedule to accommodate 2,300
students per month, an increase of nearly 300 percent. Additional
growth and construction followed, and by mid-1943 the station had pro-

...-duced some 20,000 pilots. By the end of the war,. Pensacola-trained
Navy and Marine fliers had sunk 63 German submarines and 161 Japanese
warships and destroyed more than 15,000 Japanese aircraft. Pensacola
pilots lost only 451 aircraft to Japanese fliers. The station contribu-
ted similarly to the U.S. military effort in Korea, and the installation
today continues its tradition of leadership. In 1971 the Navy, for
the first time, combined all its training and educational programs-—-
except health care services--under a single command. It is headed by
the Chief of Naval Education and Training and headquartered at Pensacola

Naval Air Station.
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